



Registration of a Charge

Company Name: INGEVITY UK LTD Company Number: 02715398

Received for filing in Electronic Format on the: **27/06/2022**

Details of Charge

- Date of creation: 23/06/2022
- Charge code: 0271 5398 0007
- Persons entitled: JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
- Brief description: N/A

Contains fixed charge(s).

Contains floating charge(s) (floating charge covers all the property or undertaking of the company).

Contains negative pledge.

Authentication of Form

This form was authorised by: a person with an interest in the registration of the charge.

Authentication of Instrument

Certification statement: I CERTIFY THAT, SAVE FOR MATERIAL REDACTED PURSUANT TO S. 859G OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006, THE ELECTRONIC COPY INSTRUMENT DELIVERED AS PART OF THIS APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION IS A CORRECT COPY OF THE ORIGINAL INSTRUMENT.

Certified by: CAHILL GORDON & REINDEL (UK) LLP



CERTIFICATE OF THE REGISTRATION OF A CHARGE

Company number: 2715398

Charge code: 0271 5398 0007

The Registrar of Companies for England and Wales hereby certifies that a charge dated 23rd June 2022 and created by INGEVITY UK LTD was delivered pursuant to Chapter A1 Part 25 of the Companies Act 2006 on 27th June 2022.

Given at Companies House, Cardiff on 29th June 2022

The above information was communicated by electronic means and authenticated by the Registrar of Companies under section 1115 of the Companies Act 2006





EXECUTION VERSION

SECURITY AGREEMENT

DATED 23 JUNE 2022

BETWEEN

THE CHARGORS as defined herein

and

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Collateral Agent



Cahill Gordon & Reindel (UK) LLP

Table of Contents

Clause

Page

1.	INTERPRETATION	1
2.	COVENANT TO PAY	9
3.	CREATION OF SECURITY	9
4.	RESTRICTIONS ON DEALINGS	.12
5.	REPRESENTATION AND UNDERTAKINGS	.12
6.	WHEN SECURITY BECOMES ENFORCEABLE	15
7.	ENFORCEMENT OF SECURITY	16
8.	RECEIVER	.17
9.	POWERS OF RECEIVER	.19
10.	APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS	21
11.	COSTS AND EXPENSES	21
12.	DELEGATION	21
13.	FURTHER ASSURANCES	.22
14.	POWER OF ATTORNEY	.22
15.	PRESERVATION OF SECURITY	.23
16.	CHANGES TO PARTIES	.26
17.	MISCELLANEOUS	.27
18.	RELEASE	.28
19.	COUNTERPARTS	.28
20.	GOVERNING LAW	.28
21.	ENFORCEMENT	.28

Schedule

SCHEDULE 1	THE ORIGINAL CHARGOR	29
	SECURITY ASSETS	
SCHEDULE 3	FORMS OF LETTER FOR ACCOUNTS	31
SCHEDULE 4	FORMS OF LETTER FOR RECEIVABLES	34
SCHEDULE 5	FORMS OF LETTER FOR INSURANCE POLICIES	37
SCHEDULE 6	FORM OF SECURITY ACCESSION DEED	40
SCHEDULE 7	REPRESENTATIONS AND UNDERTAKINGS ANNEX	49

THIS DEED is dated 23 June 2022 and made BETWEEN:

- (1) **THE COMPANY** listed in Schedule 1 (*The Original Chargor*) as original chargor (in this capacity, the "**Original Chargor**"); and
- (2) **JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.** as collateral agent for the Secured Parties (as defined in the Credit Agreement (as defined below)) (the "**Collateral Agent**").

BACKGROUND:

- (A) Each Chargor enters into this Deed in connection with the Credit Agreement (as defined below).
- (B) It is intended that this document takes effect as a deed notwithstanding the fact that a party may only execute this document under hand.

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 **Definitions**

In this Deed:

"Account" means any bank account of a Chargor located in England or Wales, including those specified in Part 2 of Schedule 2 (*Security Assets*) to this Deed or in part 2 of the schedule to any Security Accession Deed, in each case, under the heading "Accounts" and includes each current, deposit or other account opened or maintained by a Chargor (and any renewal, redesignation, renumbering, successor, replacement account or sub-division or sub-account of that account) and the debts or debts represented thereby.

"Account Bank" means, in relation to an Account, the bank or financial institution with whom that Account is maintained.

"Act" means the Law of Property Act 1925.

"Additional Chargor" means a Restricted Subsidiary which becomes a Chargor by executing a Security Accession Deed.

"Business Day" has the meaning given to that term in the Credit Agreement.

"Chargor" means the Original Chargor or an Additional Chargor.

"Credit Agreement" means the credit agreement dated as of March 7, 2016 between, among others, the Borrowers, the Lenders from time to time party thereto, the Swingline Lender, the Issuing Banks and the Administrative Agent (in each case, as defined therein) as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified, including pursuant to the Incremental Facility Agreement and Amendment No. 1, dated as of August 21, 2017, the Incremental Facility Agreement and Amendment No. 2, dated as of August 7, 2018, Amendment No. 3, dated as of March 7, 2019, the Incremental Facility Agreement and Amendment No. 5, dated as of October 28, 2020, and as further amended and restated pursuant to the amendment and restatement agreement dated 2022.

"Event of Default" has the meaning given to that term in the Credit Agreement.

"Excluded Assets" means:

- (i) any fee-owned real property and any leasehold interests in real property;
- (ii) any Excluded Equity Interests;
- (iii) any asset if, to the extent and for so long as the grant of a Security thereon to secure the Loan Document Obligations is effectively prohibited by any Requirements of Law;
- (iv) any lease, license or other agreement or contract or any property subject to a purchase money security interest, Capital Lease Obligation or similar arrangement to the extent that a grant of a security interest therein would violate or invalidate such lease, license or agreement or contract or purchase money, capital lease or similar arrangement or create a right of termination in favour of any other party thereto (other than the U.S. Borrower or any wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary) after giving effect to the applicable antiassignment provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code or other similar applicable law, other than proceeds and receivables thereof, the assignment of which is expressly deemed effective under the Uniform Commercial Code or other similar applicable law notwithstanding such prohibition;
- (v) any governmental licenses or state or local franchises, charters and authorizations, if, to the extent, and for so long as, the grant of a security interest in any such licenses, franchises charters or authorizations would be prohibited or restricted by such license, franchise, charter or authorization (after giving effect to the anti-assignment provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code of any applicable jurisdiction or other applicable law);
- (vi) any trademark application filed in the United States Patent and Trademark Office on the basis of an "intent-to-use" such trademark, unless and until acceptable evidence of use of the trademark has been filed with and accepted by the United States Patent and Trade-mark Office pursuant to Section 1(c) or Section 1(d) of the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. §§1051, et seq.), if, to the extent, and for so long as, granting a security interest or other Lien in such trade-mark application prior to such filing could reasonably be expected to adversely affect the enforceability or validity of such trademark application;
- (vii) in each case if the contract or other agreement pursuant to which such Lien is granted or created (or the documentation providing for such Indebtedness) effectively prohibits the creation of any other Lien on such property, any property subject to a Lien permitted by Sections 6.02 (iv), (v), (ix) and (xx) of the Credit Agreement;
- (viii) assets as to which the Administrative Agent and the U.S. Borrower shall have agreed in writing that the cost of obtaining such a security interest or perfection thereof (including adverse tax consequences) is excessive in relation to the benefit to the Lenders of the security to be afforded thereby;
- (ix) Securitization Assets sold to any Special Purpose Securitization Subsidiary or otherwise pledged, factored, transferred or sold in connection with any Permitted Securitization Financing; and

(x) Receivables Assets sold, pledged, factored or transferred in connection with any Permitted Receivables Financing.

"Excluded Equity Interest" means

- with respect to any Loans made to the U.S. Borrower, any Equity Interests that consist of voting stock of a Subsidiary that is a CFC or a FSHCO in excess of 65% of the outstanding voting stock of such Subsidiary;
- (ii) any Equity Interests if, to the extent, and for so long as, the grant of a Lien thereon to secure the Loan Document Obligations is effectively prohibited by any Requirements of Law; provided that such Equity Interest shall cease to be an Excluded Equity Interest at such time as such prohibition ceases to be in effect (unless another clause of this definition applies);
- (iii) margin stock;
- (iv) any Equity Interests in any Person other than a wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary if, to the extent, and for so long as, after giving effect to the applicable anti-assignment provisions in the Uniform Commercial Code and applicable law, the grant of a Lien thereon is prohibited by the Organizational Documents of or any shareholder or similar agreement applicable to such Person, or would create an enforceable right of termination in favour of any other party thereto (other than the U.S. Borrower or any wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary) under the terms of any such document or agreement; provided that such Equity Interest shall cease to be an Excluded Equity Interest at such time as such prohibition or right of termination ceases to exist or be in effect (unless another clause of this definition applies);
- (v) any Equity Interest of any Unrestricted Subsidiary; and
- (vi) any Equity Interest if, to the extent, and for so long as, the Administrative Agent and the U.S. Borrower shall have agreed in writing to treat such Equity Interest as an Excluded Equity Interest on account of the cost of pledging such Equity Interest hereunder (taking into account any adverse tax consequences to the U.S. Borrower and the Restricted Subsidiaries (including the imposition of withholding or other material taxes)), being excessive in view of the benefits to be obtained by the Lenders therefrom.

"**Insurance Policy**" means any contract or policy of insurance taken out and all proceeds of them either now or in the future held by a Chargor or on its behalf or in which it has an interest (other than any third party liability or public liability insurance and any directors and officers insurance), including those specified in 21(c)Schedule 2Part 3 of Schedule 2 (*Insurance Policies*) to this Deed or in part 3 of the schedule to any Security Accession Deed, in each case, under the heading "Insurance Policies".

"Intra-Group Receivables" means any and all present and future receivables, claims, rights, title or monies regardless of their nature (including, without limitation, principal, interest, default interest, commissions, costs and indemnities), in any currency or currencies, whether actual or contingent, whether owed jointly and severally or in any other capacity whatsoever and whether subordinated or not, owed from time to time by any Restricted Subsidiary to a Chargor.

"Obligor" means each "Loan Party" as defined in the Credit Agreement.

"Party" means a party to this Deed.

"Quasi-Security" means a transaction in which a Chargor:

- (i) sells, transfers or otherwise disposes of any of its assets on terms whereby they are or may be leased to or re-acquired by a Chargor or any other Restricted Subsidiary;
- (ii) sells, transfers or otherwise disposes of any of its receivables on recourse terms;
- (iii) enters into any arrangement under which money or the benefit of a bank or other account may be applied, set-off or made subject to a combination of accounts; or
- (iv) enters into any other preferential arrangement having a similar effect,

in circumstances where the arrangement or transaction is entered into primarily as a method of raising financial indebtedness or of financing the acquisition of an asset.

"Receivables" means Intra-Group Receivables and Trading Receivables.

"**Receiver**" means an administrative receiver, a receiver and manager or a receiver, in each case, appointed under this Deed.

"Related Rights" means:

- (i) any dividend, interest or other distribution paid or payable; and
- (ii) any right, money or property accruing or offered at any time by way of redemption, substitution, exchange, bonus or preference, under option rights or otherwise,

in relation to that share, stock, debenture, bond, warrant, coupon or other security or investment.

"Secured Debt Documents" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the Credit Agreement.

"Secured Obligations" means (a) the due and punctual payment by a Chargor of (i) the principal of and interest at the applicable rate or rates provided in the Credit Agreement (including interest accruing during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding) on the Loans due, owing or incurred by the Chargors, when and as due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, upon one or more dates set for prepayment or otherwise, (ii) each payment required to be made by that Chargor under the Credit Agreement in respect of any Letter of Credit, when and as due, including payments in respect of reimbursement of disbursements, interest thereon and obligations to provide cash collateral, and (iii) all other monetary obligations of that Chargor to any of the Secured Parties under or pursuant to the Credit Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents, including obligations to pay fees, expense reimbursement obligations and indemnification obligations, whether primary, secondary, direct, contingent, fixed or otherwise (including monetary obligations incurred during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding), (b) the due and punctual performance of all other obligations of a Chargor under or pursuant to the Credit Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents, and (c) to the extent designated by the applicable Lender in a written notice to the Administrative Agent as "Obligations" hereunder (provided that any such obligations owed to the Administrative Agent shall be deemed "Obligations" hereunder), any Cash Management Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of a Chargor owed to a Cash Management Bank arising from Cash Management Services, and (e) the due and punctual payment and performance of all Hedging Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of a Chargor and each Restricted Subsidiary under each Hedging Agreement that (i) is in effect on the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date with a Hedge Bank or (ii) is entered into after the Amendment and Restatement Effective Date with any counterparty that is a Lender, Agent or Arranger or an Affiliate thereof at the time such Hedging Agreement is entered into, including, in each case, with respect to any such Obligations, all interest, fees and other amounts that, but for the filing of a bankruptcy petition with respect to any Chargor would have accrued, whether or not a claim for such interest, fee and other amounts is permitted in any bankruptcy proceeding; provided, however, the term "Obligations" shall not create any guarantee by any Guarantor of or grant of security interest by any Guarantor to support any Excluded Swap Obligations of such Guarantors; provided further, that (x) the aggregate principal amount of Obligations under the Working Capital Loan Facility shall not exceed RMB 30,000,000 and (y) the aggregate principal amount of Obligations under the Fixed Assets Loan Facility shall not exceed RMB 120,000,000.

"Secured Parties" means (a) each Lender, (b) the Administrative Agent (including in its capacity as Collateral Agent), (c) each Issuing Bank (d) each Cash Management Bank to which the liabilities owed constitute Obligations, (e) each Hedge Bank to which the Hedging Obligations owed constitute Obligations, (f) the beneficiaries of each indemnification obligation undertaken by any Loan Party under any Loan Document, (g) on and after the Spin-Off Date, the Working Capital Lender (as defined in the U.S. Collateral Agreement) and the Fixed Asset Lender (as defined in the U.S. Collateral Agreement) and signs of each of the foregoing.

"Security" means a mortgage, charge, pledge, assignment by way of security, hypothecation, lien or other security interest or similar encumbrance securing an obligation of any person or any other agreement or arrangement having a similar effect.

"Security Accession Deed" means a deed substantially in the form of Schedule 6 (*Form of Security Accession Deed*).

"Security Assets" means all assets of a Chargor which from time to time are the subject of the Security created or expressed to be created in favour of the Collateral Agent pursuant to this Deed.

"Security Period" means the period beginning on the date of this Deed and ending on the date on which all Loan Document Obligations (other than contingent or indemnification obligations not then due) have been paid in full, all Commitments have terminated or expired and no Letter of Credit shall be outstanding that is not cash collateralized or back-stopped in a manner satisfactory to the applicable Issuing Bank and the Issuing Banks have no further obligation to issue or amend Letters of Credit.

"Shares" means:

- (i) all shares in any Subsidiary owned legally and beneficially by any Chargor, incorporated in England and Wales, whether held directly by or to the order of such Chargor or by a nominee, fiduciary or clearance system on its behalf; and
- (ii) all other shares, stocks, equity interests, partnership interests, membership interests, beneficial or ownership interests, debentures, bonds, warrants, coupons, certificates of deposit and other securities and investments,

which a Chargor purports to mortgage or charge under this Deed.

"Tangible Moveable Property" means any plant, machinery, office equipment, computers, vehicles and other chattels (excluding any for the time being forming part of any Chargor's stock in trade or work in progress).

"Trading Receivables" means all book and other debts and monetary claims arising in the ordinary course of trading owing to a Chargor and any proceeds of such debts and claims.

1.2 Construction

- (a) Capitalised terms defined in the Credit Agreement have, unless expressly defined in this Deed, the same meaning in this Deed.
- (b) Unless a contrary indication appears, a reference in this Deed to:
 - (i) an "**agreement**" includes any legally binding arrangement, concession, contract, deed (in each case whether oral or written);
 - (ii) an "**amendment**" includes any amendment, supplement, variation, novation, modification, replacement or restatement and "amend," "amending" and "amended" shall be construed accordingly;
 - (iii) "clearance system" means a person whose business is or includes the provision of clearance services or security accounts or any nominee or depository for that person;
 - (iv) "Collateral Agent" or the "Secured Parties" shall be construed so as to include its or their (and any subsequent) successors and any permitted transferees of their respective interests;
 - (v) the "**Credit Agreement**", the "**U.S. Collateral Agreement**" or any other "**Loan Document**" is a reference to such document as amended (however fundamentally), novated or supplemented from time to time;
 - (vi) "losses" includes losses, actions, damages, claims, proceedings, costs, demands, expenses (including fees) and liabilities and "loss" shall be construed accordingly;
 - (vii) **"person"** includes any natural person, firm, company, limited liability company corporation, government, Governmental Authority state or agency of a state or any association, trust, joint venture, association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal personality) or any other entity or any two or more of the foregoing;
 - (viii) "**regulation**" includes any regulation, rule, official directive, request or guideline (whether or not having the force of law) but, if not having the force of law, being of a type which it is customary for person in the position of the relevant person to comply with) of any governmental, intergovernmental or supranational body, agency, department or of any regulatory, self-regulatory or other similar authority or organization;
 - (ix) "this Security" means any security created by this Deed;

- (x) **"this Deed**" includes, in respect of any Chargor (other than the Original Chargor), any Security Accession Deed hereto; and
- (xi) any Clause or Schedule shall be to a clause or schedule contained in this Deed and any reference to this Deed includes its schedules.
- (c) Any covenant of a Chargor under this Deed remains in force during the Security Period and is given for the benefit of each of the Secured Parties.
- (d) The terms of the other Secured Debt Documents and of any side letters between any Parties in relation to any Secured Debt Document (as the case may be) are incorporated in this Deed to the extent required to ensure that any purported disposition of any freehold or leasehold property contained in this Deed is a valid disposition in accordance with section 2(1) of the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1989.
- (e) If the Collateral Agent considers that an amount paid to a Secured Party under a Secured Debt Document is capable of being avoided or otherwise set aside on the liquidation or administration of the payer or otherwise, then that amount will not be considered to have been irrevocably paid for the purposes of this Deed.
- (f) Unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to a Security Asset includes:
 - (i) any part of that Security Asset;
 - (ii) any proceeds of that Security Asset; and
 - (iii) any present and future assets of that type.

1.3 Third party rights

- (a) Unless expressly provided to the contrary in a Secured Debt Document, a person who is not a Party has no right under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce or to enjoy the benefit of any term of this Deed.
- (b) Notwithstanding any term of any Secured Debt Document, the consent of any person who is not a Party is not required to rescind or vary this Deed at any time.
- (c) Any Receiver may enforce and enjoy the benefit of any Clause which expressly confers rights on it, subject to paragraph (b) above and the provisions of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

1.4 Obligations secured by this Deed

By entering into or, as the case may be, acceding to this Deed, each Chargor expressly confirms and agrees that:

(a) the Security created or intended to be created by it under or evidenced by this Deed is intended as security for the payment and discharge of all of the Secured Obligations and without any need or requirement for any amendment or supplement to this Deed at any time after the date of this Deed (or, as the case may be, the date upon which that Chargor accedes to this Deed) notwithstanding any change in or to the Secured Obligations from time to time after such date;

- (b) the Secured Obligations are intended to extend to and to cover (without limitation):
 - (i) all the obligations (whether present or future, actual or contingent, whether owed jointly, severally or in any other capacity whatsoever and whether originally incurred by that Chargor or some other person) arising from time to time under any Secured Debt Document and/or owing to any Secured Party (in each case) falling within the definition of Secured Obligations from time to time ; and
 - any increase in, extension or substitution of or change to any of the obligations (ii) referred to in paragraph (a) above (however fundamentally) (including, without limitation, by way of any amendment (however fundamental), novation, termination, replacement, refinancing or supplement of the Credit Agreement and/or any other Secured Debt Document or, as the case may be, Secured Debt Documents or the designation (whether or not such designation is made by that Chargor) of a document or documents as a Secured Debt Document or, as the case may be, Secured Debt Documents falling within the definition of "Secured Obligations" or of a creditor or other person as a Secured Party falling within the definition of "Secured Obligations" and whether or not such document, creditor or person is or such documents are designated directly as a Secured Debt Document or, as the case may be, Secured Debt Documents or, as applicable, a Secured Party or are designated indirectly by way of being designated as a document or documents of a type or class which type or class falls within the then current definition of "Secured Debt Documents" in the Credit Agreement or, as applicable, by way of being designated as a creditor or person of a type or class which type or class falls within the then current definition of "Secured Party" in the Credit Agreement and whether or not any such designation is made pursuant to the Credit Agreement or pursuant to any other Secured Debt Document (including any of any such type or class)); and
- (c) the Security created or intended to be created under or evidenced by this Deed is intended as security for the payment and discharge of the Secured Obligations notwithstanding any change of the Collateral Agent and/or any change of the Secured Parties from time to time (including, without limitation, a change to all or substantially all of the Secured Parties) and/or any amendment (however fundamental), novation, termination, replacement, refinancing or supplement of the Credit Agreement (including, without limitation, the terms upon which the Collateral Agent holds the Security created or intended to be created under or evidenced by this Deed) and/or any other Secured Debt Document.

1.5 Trust

- (a) All Security and dispositions made or created, and all obligations and undertakings contained, in this Deed to, in favour of or for the benefit of the Collateral Agent are made, created and entered into in favour of the Collateral Agent as trustee for the Secured Parties from time to time in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement.
- (b) The Collateral Agent hereby declares that it holds the Security, covenants, representations, warranties and undertakings made or given, or to be made or given, to it or in its favour

under or pursuant to this Deed for the benefit of each of the Secured Parties in respect of the Secured Obligations owed to each of them and subject to the terms of this Deed.

(c) Each Chargor hereby acknowledges the security trust created under this Deed.

2. COVENANT TO PAY

Each Chargor, as a principal obligor and not merely as a surety, covenants with the Collateral Agent (as Collateral Agent for itself and on behalf of the other Secured Parties) that it shall on demand of the Collateral Agent pay or discharge each of the Secured Obligations when they fall due in the manner provided for in the Secured Debt Documents.

3. CREATION OF SECURITY

3.1 General

- (a) All the Security created under this Deed:
 - (i) is created in favour of the Collateral Agent;
 - (ii) is created over present and future assets of each Chargor;
 - (iii) is security for the payment, discharge and performance of all the Secured Obligations; and
 - (iv) is made with full title guarantee in accordance with the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994.
- (b) The Collateral Agent holds the benefit of this Deed on trust for the Secured Parties.
- (c) The fact that no or incomplete details of any Security Asset are inserted in Schedule 2 (*Security Assets*) or in the schedule to any Security Accession Deed (if any) by which any Chargor became party to this Deed does not affect the validity or enforceability of this Security.

3.2 Specific Security

Subject to Clause 3.5 (*Excluded Assets*) below, each Chargor, as continuing security for the payment of the Secured Obligations, charges in favour of the Collateral Agent (for itself and on behalf of the Secured Parties) with full title guarantee the following assets, both present and future from to time owned by it or in which it has an interest:

- (a) by way of first fixed charge:
 - (i) all its Shares and all corresponding Related Rights;
 - (ii) all of its rights in respect of any Account, any amount standing to the credit of any Account and the debt represented by it;
 - (iii) (to the extent that they are not the subject of an assignment under paragraph (a) of Clause 3.3 (*Security Assignment*) below) all Receivables and Insurance Policies

and, in each case, all rights and claims against third parties or the relevant Restricted Subsidiary in respect thereof;

- (iv) all amounts payable to it under or in connection with each of its Insurance Policies and all of its rights and claims in connection with those amounts (other than all amounts received or receivable under or in connection with any third party liability insurance and required to settle a liability of an Obligor to a third party);
- (v) all Tangible Moveable Property owned by it and its interest in any Tangible Moveable Property in its possession; and
- (vi) its goodwill and uncalled capital.

3.3 Security Assignments

- (a) Subject to Clause 3.5 (*Excluded Assets*) below, each Chargor assigns absolutely, subject to a proviso for reassignment on redemption, with full title guarantee to the Collateral Agent (for itself and on behalf of the Secured Parties) as security for the payment and discharge of the Secured Obligations all of its right, title and interests from time to time and to the proceeds of the:
 - (i) Receivables; and
 - (ii) Insurance Policies.
- (b) To the extent that any right described in paragraph 3.3(a) above is not assignable or capable of assignment, the assignment of that right purported to be effected by paragraph (a) shall operate as an assignment of any damages, compensation, remuneration, profit, rent or income which that Chargor may derive from that right or be awarded or entitled to in respect of that right.

3.4 Floating charge

- (a) The Chargor charges, by way of a first floating charge:
 - (i) all such present and future assets, undertakings and rights whatsoever and wheresoever not otherwise effectively mortgaged, charged or assigned under this Deed.
- (b) Except as provided below, the Collateral Agent may by notice to a Chargor convert the floating charge created by that Chargor under this Deed into a fixed charge as regards any of that Chargor's assets specified in that notice if:
 - (i) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
 - (ii) the Collateral Agent reasonably considers those assets to be in danger of being seized or sold under any form of distress, attachment, execution or other legal process or to be otherwise in jeopardy;
 - (iii) it is necessary to so in order to protect the priority, validity or enforceability of the Security created under this Deed; or

- (iv) that Chargor creates or attempts to create any Security (other than any Security permitted or not prohibited under the terms of the Credit Agreement) over any of the Security Assets.
- (c) The floating charge created under this Deed may not be converted into a fixed charge solely by reason of:
 - (i) the obtaining of a moratorium; or
 - (ii) anything done with a view to obtaining a moratorium,

under section 1A to the Insolvency Act 1986.

- (d) The floating charge created under this Deed will (in addition to the circumstances in which the same will occur under general law) automatically convert into a fixed charge over all of each Chargor's assets:
 - (i) if an administrator is appointed or the Collateral Agent receives notice of an intention to appoint an administrator; or
 - (ii) on the convening of any meeting of the members of that Chargor to consider a resolution to wind that Chargor up (or not to wind that Chargor up);
 - (iii) if in respect of that Chargor, a resolution is passed or any order is made in England and Wales for the winding-up, dissolution, administration or re-organisation of that Chargor or an administrator is appointed to that Chargor;
 - (iv) any person levies or attempts to levy any distress, execution or other legal process against any of the assets of that Chargor subject to the floating charge (provided that only the assets the subject of such process shall become subject to a fixed charge): or
 - (v) if that Chargor is, or is deemed to be or is declared for the purposes of any applicable law to be, unable or admits inability to pay its debts as they fall due, suspends making payments on any of its debts or, by reason of actual or anticipated financial difficulties, commences negotiations with its creditors generally or any class of them (other than the Secured Parties) for the rescheduling of any of its financial indebtedness.
- (e) The floating charge created under this Deed is a **qualifying floating charge** for the purpose of paragraph 14 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986.
- (f) The giving by the Collateral Agent of a notice under paragraph (b) above in relation to any asset of a Chargor will not be construed as a waiver or abandonment of the Collateral Agent's rights to give any other notice in respect of any other asset or of any other right of any other Secured Parties under this Deed or any other Secured Debt Document.

3.5 Excluded Assets

(a) Subject to paragraph (b) and (c) below, Excluded Assets shall not be subject to the Security created by or pursuant to this Deed.

- (b) Paragraph (a) above shall not apply with respect to the charge granted by each Chargor under Clause 3.4 (*Floating charge*) above.
- (c) Any asset of a Chargor which is excluded from the Security created by or pursuant to this Deed or any Security Accession Deed pursuant to paragraph (a) above shall, operate as an assignment or charge of all proceeds and/or receivables which that Chargor derives from or is entitled to in respect of the relevant asset(s) that have been so excluded from such Security and upon ceasing to be an Excluded Asset become subject to the Security created by this Deed or the relevant Security Accession Deed.

4. **RESTRICTIONS ON DEALINGS**

No Chargor may:

- (a) create or agree to create or permit or allow to exist any Security or Quasi-Security over all or any part of the Security Assets; or
- (b) either in a single transaction or in a series of transactions and whether related or not and whether voluntarily or involuntarily sell, transfer, licence or lease or otherwise dispose of all or any part of its assets or the right to receive or to be paid the proceeds arising on disposal of the same; or agree or attempt to do so,

unless permitted under the Credit Agreement.

5. REPRESENTATION AND UNDERTAKINGS

5.1 Shares

- (a) Each Chargor represents and warrants to the Secured Parties that it has complied in all respects with any notices served on it under sections 790D and 790E of the Companies Act 2006 in respect of any Shares which constitute Security Assets.
- (b) The representations and warranties set out in this Deed (including in this Clause) are made by each Chargor on the date of this Deed.
- (c) Subject to paragraph (d) below, each representation and warranty under this Deed is deemed to be repeated by:
 - (i) each Chargor which becomes party to this Deed by a Security Accession Deed, on the date on which that Additional Chargor becomes a Chargor; and
 - (ii) each Chargor on each date on which any Shares acquired after the date of this Deed become subject to the Security created by this Deed or any Security Accession Deed provided that on such date, the representations and warranties set out in this Deed shall only be made by the relevant Chargor to the extent that they relate to, or apply in respect of, such Shares acquired.
- (d) When a representation and warranty is deemed to be repeated, it is deemed to be made by reference to the circumstances existing at the time of repetition.

- (e) Each Chargor shall, promptly upon execution of this Deed or a Security Accession Deed or after its acquisition of any Shares after the date of this Deed (and any in any event within five Business Days, or such later date as the Collateral Agent may agree or such longer period as reasonably practicable required to allow for stamping and registration from the relevant tax authority):
 - (i) deposit with the Collateral Agent, or as the Collateral Agent may direct, all certificates and other documents of title or evidence of ownership in relation its Shares; and
 - (ii) deliver to the Collateral Agent all share transfer forms (executed in blank and left undated) and other documents which may be requested by the Collateral Agent in order to enable the Collateral Agent or its nominees to be registered as the owner or otherwise obtain a legal title to its Shares.
- (f) Any document required to be delivered to the Collateral Agent under paragraph (e) above which is for any reason not so delivered or which is released by the Collateral Agent to a Chargor shall be held on trust by the relevant Chargor for the Collateral Agent.
- (g) Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, each Chargor must pay all calls and other payments due and payable in respect of any of its Shares.
- (h) If a Chargor fails to do so, the Collateral Agent may (but shall not under any circumstance be under any obligation to) pay those calls or other payments on behalf of that Chargor. That Chargor must promptly and in any event within five Business Days on request reimburse the Collateral Agent for any payment made by the Collateral Agent under this Clause and, pending reimbursement, that payment will constitute part of the Secured Obligations.
- (i) All dividends or other income or distributions in relation to any Shares received by a Chargor contrary to the provisions of paragraph (k)(ii) below shall be received for the benefit of the Collateral Agent, shall be segregated from other funds of such Chargor and shall be paid over to the Collateral Agent.
- (j) Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, each Chargor may:
 - (i) exercise the voting rights, powers and other rights in respect of its Shares provided that it shall not exercise any such voting rights or powers in a manner which would adversely affect the validity or enforceability of the Security created under this Deed or cause an Event of Default to occur; and
 - (ii) subject to the terms of the Secured Debt Documents, receive all dividends or other income or distributions paid or payable in relation to any of its Shares or any other proceeds of the Related Rights.
- (k) At any time on or after an Event of Default has occurred which is continuing:
 - (i) the Collateral Agent or its nominee may exercise (in the name of the relevant Chargor, the registered holder or otherwise and without any further consent or authority on the part of the relevant Chargor and irrespective of any direction given by any Chargor) or refrain from exercising any voting rights any other powers or

rights which may be exercised by the legal or beneficial owner of any Shares, any person who is the holder of any Shares or otherwise; and

- (ii) all dividends or other income or distributions in relation to any Shares shall be paid to the Collateral Agent or as otherwise instructed by the Collateral Agent.
- (1) Each Chargor shall:
 - (i) comply with any notice it receives or has received under Section 790D or 790E of the Companies Act 2006 within the prescribed timeframe; and
 - (ii) promptly notify the Collateral Agent if it receives a warning notice or restrictions notice under Schedule 1B of the Companies Act 2006,

in each case, in relation to Shares that are subject to the Security under this Deed or any Security Accession Deed (as applicable).

5.2 Accounts

- (a) Each Chargor shall:
 - (i) As soon as practicable (and in any event within five Business Days following the execution of this Deed or, in respect of any Account which becomes subject of this Security after the date of this Deed, at any time on or after such date), serve notice, substantially in the form of Part 1 of Schedule 3 (*Notice to Account Bank*), on each Account Bank in respect of each of its Accounts; and
 - (ii) use its reasonable endeavours to procure that each Account Bank acknowledges that notice substantially in the form of Part 2 of Schedule 3 (*Acknowledgement of Account Bank*) within 20 Business Days (or such later date as the Collateral Agent may agree to) of service in respect of any notice delivered pursuant to paragraph (i) above provided that the relevant Chargor's obligation under this paragraph will cease on the expiry of the 20 Business Day period referred to in this paragraph (or such longer period as the Collateral Agent may agree to).
- (b) Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, each Chargor is entitled to receive, withdraw or otherwise deal with or transfer any credit balance from time to time on any Account and shall be entitled to deal with such Account in any manner not prohibited by the Secured Debt Documents.
- (c) At any time on or after an Event of Default has occurred which is continuing:
 - (ii) except with the prior consent of the Collateral Agent, no Chargor may withdraw any monies (including interest) standing to the credit of any Account; and
 - (iii) the Collateral Agent (or a Receiver) may (subject to the payment of any claims having priority to this Security) withdraw amounts standing to the credit of any account.

5.3 Receivables

- (a) Each Chargor shall:
 - (i) as soon as practicable (and in any event within five Business Days following the execution of this Deed or, in respect of any Receivables which become subject of this Security after the date of this Deed, at any time on or after such date), serve notice, substantially in the form of Part 1 of Schedule 4 (*Notice to Counterparty*), to each counterparty in respect of each of its Receivables; and
 - (ii) use its reasonable endeavours to procure that such counterparty acknowledges that notice, substantially in the form of Part 2 of Schedule 4 (*Acknowledgement of Counterparty*) within 20 Business Days (or such later date as the Collateral Agent may agree to) of service in respect of any notice delivered pursuant to paragraph (i) above provided that the relevant Chargor's obligation under this paragraph will cease on the expiry of the 20 Business Day period referred to in this paragraph (or such longer period as the Collateral Agent may agree to).
- (b) At any time on or after an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, each Chargor shall:
 - (i) as agent for the Collateral Agent, collect all Receivables charged to the Collateral Agent under this Deed, pay the proceeds into an Account promptly upon receipt and, pending such payment, hold those proceeds on trust for the Collateral Agent; and
 - (ii) not charge, factor, discount or assign any of the Receivables in favour of any person, or purport to do so, unless permitted or not prohibited by the Credit Agreement.

5.4 Insurance Policies

Each Chargor, in respect of the Real Property subject to the Security under this Deed, gives the representations, warranties and undertakings set out in 21(d) (*Insurance Policies*).

6. WHEN SECURITY BECOMES ENFORCEABLE

6.1 Enforcement

This Security will become immediately enforceable if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.

6.2 Discretion

After this Security has become enforceable, the Collateral Agent (or its nominee) may in its absolute discretion enforce all or any part of this Security in any manner it sees fit in accordance with the Credit Agreement.

6.3 Statutory powers

The power of sale and other powers conferred by section 101 of the Act, as amended by this Deed, will be immediately exercisable at any time after this Security has become enforceable.

7. ENFORCEMENT OF SECURITY

7.1 General

- (a) For the purposes of all powers implied by statute, the Secured Obligations are deemed to have become due and payable on the date of this Deed.
- (b) Section 103 of the Act (restricting the power of sale) and section 93 of the Act (restricting the right of consolidation) does not apply to this Security.
- (c) The statutory powers of leasing conferred on the Collateral Agent are extended so as to authorise the Collateral Agent to lease, make agreements for leases, accept surrenders of leases and grant options as the Collateral Agent may think fit and without the need to comply with any provision of section 99 or section 100 of the Act.

7.2 No liability as mortgagee in possession

Neither the Collateral Agent nor any Receiver will be liable, by reason of entering into possession of a Security Asset, to account as mortgagee in possession or for any loss on realisation for any default or omission for which a mortgagee in possession might be liable.

7.3 Privileges

The Collateral Agent and each Receiver is entitled to all the rights, powers, privileges and immunities conferred by the Act on mortgagees and receivers duly appointed under the Act, except that section 103 of the Act does not apply.

7.4 **Protection of third parties**

No person (including a purchaser) dealing with the Collateral Agent or a Receiver or its or his/her agents will be concerned to enquire:

- (a) whether the Secured Obligations have become payable;
- (b) whether any power which the Collateral Agent or a Receiver is purporting to exercise has become exercisable or is being properly exercised;
- (c) whether any money remains due under the Secured Debt Documents; or
- (d) how any money paid to the Collateral Agent or to that Receiver is to be applied.

7.5 Redemption of prior mortgages

- (a) At any time after this Security has become enforceable, the Collateral Agent may:
 - (i) redeem any prior Security against any Security Asset; and/or

- (ii) procure the transfer of that Security to itself; and/or
- (iii) settle and pass the accounts of the prior mortgagee, chargee or encumbrancer; any accounts so settled and passed will be, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive and binding on each Chargor.
- (b) Each Chargor shall pay to the Collateral Agent, promptly on demand, the costs and expenses incurred by the Collateral Agent in connection with any such redemption and/or transfer, including the payment of any principal or interest.

7.6 Financial collateral

- (a) To the extent that the assets mortgaged or charged under this Deed constitute "financial collateral" and this Deed and the obligations of each Chargor under this Deed constitute a "security financial collateral arrangement" (in each case for the purpose of and as defined in the Financial Collateral Arrangements (No. 2) Regulations 2003 (SI 2003 No. 3226)) the Collateral Agent shall have the right after this Security has become enforceable to appropriate all or any part of that financial collateral in or towards the satisfaction of the Secured Obligations.
- (b) Where any financial collateral is appropriated:
 - (i) if it is cash, its value will be the amount standing to the credit of the relevant account on the date of appropriation plus any accrued but uncredited interest;
 - (ii) if it is listed or traded on a recognised exchange its value will be taken as the value at which it could have been sold on the exchange on the date of appropriation; or
 - (iii) in any other case, the value of the financial collateral appropriated shall be such amount as the Collateral Agent reasonably determines having taken into account advice obtained by it from an independent investment or accountancy firm of national standing selected by it,

and each Secured Party will give credit for the proportion of the value of the financial collateral appropriated to its use.

7.7 Applying credit balances

The Collateral Agent may, at any time after this Security has become enforceable, set off or require the Account Bank in respect of an Account to pay any moneys (including interest) standing to the credit of that Account to the Collateral Agent (or as the Collateral Agent may direct) and the Collateral Agent may apply all or any part of those moneys against all or any part of the Secured Obligations.

8. **RECEIVER**

8.1 Appointment of Receiver

(a) Except as provided below, the Collateral Agent may appoint any one or more persons to be a Receiver of all or any part of the Security Assets if:

- (i) this Security has become enforceable; or
- (ii) a Chargor so requests to the Collateral Agent in writing at any time.
- (b) Any appointment under paragraph (a) above may be by deed, under seal or in writing under its hand by any officer or manager of the Collateral Agent.
- (c) Except as provided below, any restriction imposed by law on the right of a mortgagee to appoint a Receiver (including under section 109(1) of the Act) does not apply to this Deed.
- (d) The Collateral Agent is not entitled to appoint a Receiver solely as a result of the obtaining of a moratorium (or anything done with a view to obtaining a moratorium) under section A1 to the Insolvency Act 1986 other than in respect of a floating charge referred to in subjection (4) of section A52 of Part AI of the Insolvency Act 1986.
- (e) The Collateral Agent may not appoint an administrative receiver (as defined in section 29(2) of the Insolvency Act 1986) over the Security Assets if the Collateral Agent is prohibited from so doing by section 72A of the Insolvency Act 1986 and no exception to the prohibition on appointing an administrative receiver applies.

8.2 Removal

The Collateral Agent may by writing under its hand (subject to any requirement for an order of the court in the case of an administrative receiver) remove any Receiver appointed by it and may, whenever it thinks fit, appoint a new Receiver in the place of any Receiver whose appointment may for any reason have terminated.

8.3 Remuneration

The Collateral Agent may fix the remuneration of any Receiver appointed by it and the maximum rate specified in section 109(6) of the Act will not apply.

8.4 Agent of each Chargor

- (a) A Receiver will be deemed to be the agent of the relevant Chargor for all purposes and accordingly will be deemed to be in the same position as a Receiver duly appointed by a mortgagee under the Act. The relevant Chargor alone is responsible for any contracts, engagements, acts, omissions, defaults and losses of a Receiver and for his expenses and remuneration and for any liabilities incurred by a Receiver.
- (b) No Secured Parties will incur any liability (either to a Chargor or to any other person) by reason of the appointment of a Receiver or for any other reason.

8.5 Relationship with Collateral Agent

To the fullest extent allowed by law, any right, power or discretion conferred by this Deed (either expressly or impliedly) or by law on a Receiver may after this Security becomes enforceable be exercised by the Collateral Agent in relation to any Security Asset without first appointing a Receiver and notwithstanding the appointment of a Receiver.

9. **POWERS OF RECEIVER**

9.1 General

- (a) A Receiver has all of the rights, powers and discretions set out below in this Clause 9 in addition to those conferred on it by any law. This includes:
 - (i) in the case of an administrative receiver, all the rights, powers and discretions conferred on an administrative receiver under the Insolvency Act 1986; and
 - (ii) otherwise, all the rights, powers and discretions conferred on a receiver (or a receiver and manager) under the Act and the Insolvency Act 1986.
- (b) If there is more than one Receiver holding office at the same time, each Receiver may (unless the document appointing him/her states otherwise) exercise all of the powers conferred on a Receiver under this Deed individually and to the exclusion of any other Receiver.

9.2 Possession

A Receiver may take immediate possession of, get in and realise any Security Asset.

9.3 Carry on business

- (a) A Receiver may carry on any business of any Chargor in any manner he/she thinks fit, including:
 - (i) entering into or cancelling any contracts on any terms or conditions; and
 - (ii) managing, developing, reconstructing, amalgamating or diversifying any part of the business of the relevant Chargor.

9.4 Employees

- (a) A Receiver may appoint and discharge managers, officers, agents, accountants, servants, workmen and others for the purposes of this Deed upon such terms as to remuneration or otherwise as he/she thinks fit.
- (b) A Receiver may discharge any person appointed by any Chargor.

9.5 Borrow money

A Receiver may raise and borrow money either unsecured or on the security of any Security Asset either in priority to this Security or otherwise and generally on any terms and for whatever purpose which he/she thinks fit.

9.6 Sale of assets

(a) A Receiver may sell, exchange, convert into money and realise any Security Asset by public auction or private contract and generally in any manner and on any terms which he/she thinks fit.

- (b) The consideration for any such transaction may consist of cash, or non-cash consideration and any such consideration may be payable in a lump sum or by instalments spread over any period which the Receiver thinks fit.
- (c) Fixtures, other than landlord's fixtures may be severed and sold separately from the property containing them without the consent of the relevant Chargor.

9.7 Leases

A Receiver may let any Security Asset for any term and at any rent (with or without a premium) which he/she thinks fit and may accept a surrender of any lease or tenancy of any Security Asset on any terms which he/she thinks fit (including the payment of money to a lessee or tenant on a surrender).

9.8 Compromise

A Receiver may settle, adjust, refer to arbitration, compromise and arrange any claim, account, dispute, question or demand with or by any person who is or claims to be a creditor of any Chargor or relating in any way to any Security Asset.

9.9 Legal actions

A Receiver may bring, prosecute, enforce, defend and abandon any action, suit or proceedings in relation to any Security Asset which he/she thinks fit.

9.10 Receipts

A Receiver may give a valid receipt for any moneys and execute any assurance or thing which may be proper or desirable for realising any Security Asset.

9.11 Subsidiaries

A Receiver may form a Subsidiary (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of any Chargor and transfer to that Subsidiary any Security Asset.

9.12 Delegation

A Receiver may delegate his/her powers in accordance with this Deed.

9.13 Lending

A Receiver may lend money or advance credit to any person.

9.14 Protection of assets

A Receiver may:

- (a) effect any repair or insurance and do any other act which any Chargor might do in the ordinary conduct of its business to protect or improve any Security Asset;
- (b) commence and/or complete any building operation; and

(c) apply for and maintain any planning permission, building regulation approval or any other authorisation,

in each case as he/she thinks fit.

9.15 Other powers

A Receiver may:

- (a) do all other acts and things which he/she may consider necessary or desirable for realising any Security Asset or incidental or conducive to any of the rights, powers or discretions conferred on a Receiver under or by virtue of this Deed or law;
- (b) exercise in relation to any Security Asset all the powers, authorities and things which he/she would be capable of exercising if he/she were the absolute beneficial owner of that Security Asset; and
- (c) use the name of any Chargor for any of the above purposes.

10. APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS

- (a) All amounts from time to time received or recovered (whether in cash or otherwise) by the Collateral Agent or any Receiver pursuant to the terms of this Deed or in connection with the realisation or enforcement of all or part of this Security shall (subject to the claims of any person having prior rights thereto and by way of variation of the provisions of the Act) be applied in accordance with Section 7.02 (*Crediting of Payments and Proceeds*) of the Credit Agreement notwithstanding any purported appropriation by any Chargor.
- (b) This Clause is subject to the payment of any claims having priority over this Security. This Clause does not prejudice the right of any Secured Party to recover any shortfall from any Chargor.

11. COSTS AND EXPENSES

- (a) Subject to paragraph (b) below, all costs and expenses in relation to this Deed shall be paid in accordance with Section 9.03 of the Credit Agreement.
- (b) Each Chargor shall pay all costs and expenses (including legal fees) incurred in connection with this Deed by the Collateral Agent or otherwise enforcing or preserving any rights under this Deed and the other Secured Debt Documents to which such Chargor is a party to the extent the Borrower would be required to do so in accordance with, and subject to the limitations set forth in, Section 9.03 of the Credit Agreement.

12. DELEGATION

12.1 **Power of Attorney**

The Collateral Agent or any Receiver may, at any time, delegate by power of attorney or otherwise to any person for any period all or any right, power, authority or discretion exercisable by it under this Deed.

12.2 Terms

Any such delegation may be made upon any terms and conditions (including the power to subdelegate) and subject to any restrictions that the Collateral Agent or that Receiver (as the case may be) may, in its discretion think fit in the interests of the Secured Parties.

12.3 Liability

Neither the Collateral Agent nor any Receiver shall be bound to supervise, or be in any way responsible for any damages, costs, or losses incurred by reason of any misconduct, omission or default on the part of such delegate or sub-delegate.

13. FURTHER ASSURANCES

Subject to the terms in the Credit Agreement, each Chargor shall, at its own expense, take whatever action is required by law or that the Collateral Agent or a Receiver may reasonably request for:

(a) creating, perfecting or protecting any security intended to be created by or pursuant to this Deed;

following the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, facilitating the realisation of any Security Asset, or the exercise of any right, power or discretion exercisable by the Collateral Agent or any Receiver or any of their respective delegates or sub-delegates in respect of any Security Asset;

This includes:

- (i) the correction of any material defect or error that may be discovered in the execution, acknowledgment, filing or recordation of this Deed;
- (ii) the requirement to do, execute, acknowledge, deliver, record, re-record, file, refile, register and re-register any and all such further acts, deeds, certificates, assurances and other instruments as are necessary or as the Collateral Agent may reasonably request from time to time to the extent required by the Credit Agreement and this Deed;
- (iii) the re-execution of this Deed;
- (iv) the execution of any legal mortgage, charge, transfer, conveyance, assignment or assurance of any property, whether to the Collateral Agent or to its nominee; and
- (v) the giving of any notice, order or direction and the making of any filing or registration, which, in any such case, the Collateral Agent may think expedient.

14. **POWER OF ATTORNEY**

14.1 Appointment and powers

(a) During the Security Period, each Chargor, by way of security, irrevocably and severally appoints the Collateral Agent, each Receiver and each of their respective delegates and sub-delegates to be its attorney to take any action which that Chargor is obliged to take under this Deed, including, but not limited to:

- (i) carrying out the execution and delivery of any deeds, charges, assignments or other security and any transfers of the Secured Obligations; and
- (ii) enabling the Collateral Agent or any Receiver to exercise, or delegate the exercise of, any of the rights, powers and authorities conferred on them by or pursuant to this Deed or by law (including whilst an Event of Default is continuing, the exercise of any right of a legal or beneficial owner of the Secured Obligations).

14.2 Exercise of powers

The rights under Clause 14.1 (Appointment and powers) above, shall only be exercisable:

- (a) upon the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing; or
- (b) if the relevant Chargor has failed to comply with:
 - (i) an obligation under Clause 13 (Further Assurances); or
 - (ii) any other obligation relating to the perfection of any security created under this Deed,

within five Business Days of being notified in writing (which includes email correspondence) of that failure and being requested in writing to comply.

14.3 Ratification

Each Chargor ratifies and confirms all things done and all documents executed by any attorney in the exercise or purported exercise of all or any of his powers under this Clause 14.

15. PRESERVATION OF SECURITY

15.1 Continuing Security

This Security is a continuing security and will extend to the ultimate balance of the Secured Obligations, regardless of any intermediate payment or discharge in whole or in part.

15.2 Reinstatement

If any payment by an Obligor or any discharge given by a Secured Party (whether in respect of the obligations of any Obligor or any security for those obligations or otherwise) is avoided or reduced as a result of insolvency or any similar event:

- (a) the liability of each Obligor will continue as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred; and
- (b) each Secured Party will be entitled to recover the value or amount of that security or payment from each Obligor, as if the payment, discharge, avoidance or reduction had not occurred.

15.3 Waiver of defences

The obligations of each Chargor under this Deed will not be affected by any act, omission or thing which, but for this Clause 15, would reduce, release or prejudice any of its obligations under this Deed (without limitation and whether or not known to it or any Secured Parties), including:

- (a) any time, waiver or consent granted to, or composition with, any Obligor or other person;
- (b) the release of any Obligor or any other person under the terms of any composition or arrangement with any creditor;
- (c) the taking, variation, compromise, exchange, renewal or release of, or refusal or neglect to perfect, take up or enforce, any rights against, or security over assets of, any Obligor or any other person or any non-presentation or non-observance of any formality or other requirement in respect of any instruments or any failure to realise the full value of any security;
- (d) any incapacity or lack of power, authority or legal personality of or dissolution or change in the members or status of an Obligor or any other person;
- (e) any amendment, novation, supplement, extension, restatement (however fundamental and whether or not more onerous) or replacement of any Secured Debt Document or any other document or security including without limitation any change in the purpose of, any extension of or any increase in any facility or the addition of any new facility under any Secured Debt Document or other document or security;
- (f) any unenforceability, illegality or invalidity of any obligation of any person under any Secured Debt Document or any other document or security or the failure by any Restricted Subsidiary to enter into or be bound by any Secured Debt Document; or
- (g) any insolvency or similar proceedings.

15.4 Immediate recourse

- (a) Each Chargor waives any right it may have of first requiring any Secured Parties (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) to proceed against or enforce any other rights or security or claim payment from any person or file any proof or claim in any insolvency, administration, winding-up or liquidation proceedings relative to any other Obligor or any other person before claiming from that Chargor under this Deed.
- (b) This waiver applies irrespective of any law or any provision of a Secured Debt Document to the contrary.

15.5 Appropriations

- (a) Each Secured Party (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) may at any time during the Security Period:
 - refrain from applying or enforcing any other moneys, security or rights held or received by that Secured Party (or any trustee or agent on its behalf) in respect of the Secured Obligations; or

- (ii) apply and enforce them in such manner and order as it sees fit (whether against those amounts or otherwise); and
- (b) hold in an interest-bearing suspense account any moneys received from any Chargor or on account of the liability of that Chargor under this Deed.

15.6 Non-competition

Unless:

- (a) the Security Period has expired; or
- (b) the Collateral Agent otherwise directs,

no Chargor will, after a claim has been made or by virtue of any payment or performance by it under this Deed:

- (i) be subrogated to any rights, security or moneys held, received or receivable by any Secured Parties (or any trustee or agent on its behalf);
- (ii) be entitled to any right of contribution or indemnity in respect of any payment made or moneys received on account of that Chargor's liability under this Clause;
- (iii) claim, rank, prove or vote as a creditor of any Obligor or its estate in competition with any Secured Parties (or any trustee or agent on its behalf); or
- (iv) receive, claim or have the benefit of any payment, distribution or security from or on account of any Obligor, or exercise any right of set-off as against any Obligor.

Each Chargor shall hold on trust for and shall promptly pay or transfer to the Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties any payment or distribution or benefit of security received by it contrary to this Clause or in accordance with any directions given by the Collateral Agent under this Clause.

15.7 Release of Chargors' right of contribution

If any Chargor ceases to be a Loan Party in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement for the purpose of any sale or other disposal of that Chargor:

- (a) that Chargor will be irrevocably and unconditionally released by each other Chargor from any liability whatsoever to make a contribution to any other Loan Party arising by reason of the performance by any other Chargor of its obligations under the Secured Debt Documents; and
- (b) each other Chargor will waive any rights it may have by reason of the performance of its obligations under the Secured Debt Documents to take the benefit (in whole or in part and whether by way of subrogation or otherwise) of any right of any Secured Parties under any Secured Debt Document or of any other security taken under, or in connection with, any Secured Debt Document where the rights or security are granted by or in relation to the assets of the retiring Chargor.

15.8 Additional security

- (a) This Deed is in addition to and is not in any way prejudiced by any other security or guarantee now or subsequently held by any Secured Party.
- (b) No prior security held by any Secured Party (in its capacity as such or otherwise) over any Security Asset will merge into this Security.

15.9 Limitations

The obligations of any Additional Chargor are subject to the limitations (if any) set out in the Security Accession Deed executed by that Additional Chargor.

15.10 Security held by Chargor

No Chargor may hold any security from any other Obligor in respect of that Chargor's liability under this Deed. Each Chargor will hold any security held by it in breach of this provision on trust for the Collateral Agent.

16. CHANGES TO PARTIES

16.1 Assignment by the Collateral Agent

The Collateral Agent may at any time assign or otherwise transfer all or any part of its rights under this Deed in accordance with the Secured Debt Documents.

16.2 Changes to Parties

Each Chargor authorises and agrees to changes to parties in accordance with the Secured Debt Documents and authorises the Collateral Agent to execute on its behalf any document required to effect the necessary transfer of rights or obligations contemplated by those provisions.

16.3 Additional Chargors

Each of the Chargors will procure that any Restricted Subsidiary which is required to do so by the terms of the Credit Agreement executes a Security Accession Deed.

16.4 Consents

- (a) Each Chargor consents to Restricted Subsidiaries becoming Chargors as contemplated by Clause 16.3 (*Additional Chargors*) above and irrevocably appoints the Collateral Agent as its agent for the purpose of executing any Security Accession Deed on its behalf in order that each such Security Accession Deed may be supplemental to this Deed and be binding on enure to the benefit of all the parties to this Deed.
- (b) Each Chargor confirms that the execution of any Security Accession Deed by a Restricted Subsidiary will in no way prejudice or affect the security granted by each of them under (and the covenants given by each of them in), this Deed and that this Deed shall remain in full force and effect as supplemented by any such Security Accession Deed.
- (c) Each Chargor further confirms that the execution of any other supplemental security document by a Chargor will in no way prejudice or affect the security granted by each of

them under (and the covenants given by each of them in), this Deed and that this Deed shall remain in full force and effect as supplemented by any such supplemental security document.

17. MISCELLANEOUS

17.1 Tacking

Each Lender must perform its obligations under the Secured Debt Documents (including any obligation to make available further advances).

17.2 New Accounts

- (a) If any subsequent charge or other interest affects any Security Asset, any Secured Party may open a new account with any Obligor.
- (b) If a Secured Party does not open a new account, it will nevertheless be treated as if it had done so at the time when it received or was deemed to have received notice of that charge or other interest.
- (c) As from that time all payments made to that Secured Party will be credited or be treated as having been credited to the new account and will not operate to reduce any Secured Obligations.

17.3 Time deposits

Without prejudice to any right of set-off any Secured Parties may have under any Secured Debt Document or otherwise, if any time deposit matures on any account a Chargor has with any Secured Parties within the Security Period when:

- (a) this Security has become enforceable; and
- (b) no Secured Obligation is due and payable,

that time deposit will automatically be renewed for any further maturity which that Secured Party in its absolute discretion considers appropriate unless that Secured Party otherwise agrees in writing.

17.4 Notice of assignment or charge

This Deed constitutes notice in writing to each Chargor of any charge or assignment of a debt owed by that Chargor to any other Restricted Subsidiary and contained in any other Security Document (as defined in the Credit Agreement).

17.5 Acknowledgement of assignment or charge of Intra-Group Receivables

By virtue of them being a party to this Deed (whether as the Original Chargor or by way of executing a Security Accession Deed) each Chargor shall be deemed to have notice of, and to have acknowledged, any charge or assignment or other Security created under this Deed (or any Security Accession Deed) over any Intra-Group Receivables pursuant to which any amounts or other obligations are owed to them by another Chargor.

18. RELEASE

Without prejudice to the circumstances in which all or part of the Security Assets may be irrevocably and unconditionally released as contemplated by the Credit Agreement, at the end of the Security Period, the Collateral Agent and each Secured Party shall, at the request and cost of the Chargors, take whatever action is necessary to release the relevant Security Assets from this Security.

19. COUNTERPARTS

This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of those counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

20. GOVERNING LAW

This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.

21. ENFORCEMENT

- (a) The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute including a dispute relating to non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this Agreement (including a dispute regarding the existence, validity or termination of this Agreement) (a "Dispute").
- (b) The Parties agree that the courts of England are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle Disputes and accordingly no Party will argue to the contrary.
- (c) This Clause 21 (*Enforcement*) is for the benefit of the Secured Parties only. As a result, no Secured Party shall be prevented from taking proceedings relating to a Dispute in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, the Secured Parties may take concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

THIS DEED has been executed and delivered as a deed by each Chargor on the date stated at the beginning of this Deed.

SCHEDULE 1

THE ORIGINAL CHARGOR

Name	Jurisdiction of incorporation	Registration number	Registered Office
Ingevity UK Ltd	England & Wales	02715398	Ingevity UK Ltd, Baronet Road, Warrington, England, WA4 6HA

SCHEDULE 2

SECURITY ASSETS

PART 1

SHARES

Chargor	Name of company in which shares are held	Class of shares held	Number of shares held
[•]	[●]	[•]	[•]

PART 2

ACCOUNTS

Chargor	Account Bank name and address	IBAN	Sort Code
Ingevity UK Ltd	HSBC UK Bank plc	0829	401160
Ingevity UK Ltd	HSBC UK Bank plc	5839	401276
Ingevity UK Ltd	HSBC UK Bank plc	4773	401276
Ingevity UK Ltd	HSBC UK Bank plc	6175	401276

PART 3

INSURANCE POLICIES

Chargor	Description
[•]	[•]

SCHEDULE 3

FORMS OF LETTER FOR ACCOUNTS

PART 1

NOTICE TO ACCOUNT BANK

To: [Account Bank]

Copy: [Collateral Agent]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Security agreement dated [•] between the Chargors (as defined therein) and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (the "Security Agreement")

This letter constitutes notice to you that under the Security Agreement each of the companies listed at the end of this notice (each a "**Chargor**") has charged (by way of a first fixed charge) in favour of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as collateral agent for the Secured Parties referred to in the Security Agreement (the "**Collateral Agent**") as first priority chargee all of its rights in respect of any amount standing to the credit of any bank account maintained by it with you at any of your branches (account no.: $[\bullet]$ sort code: $[\bullet]$) (the "**Accounts**") and the debts represented by the Accounts.

We irrevocably instruct and authorise you to:

- (a) disclose to the Collateral Agent any information relating to any Account requested from you by the Collateral Agent; and
- (b) following notice from the Collateral Agent that the Security under the Deed has become enforceable, to:
 - (i) comply with the terms of any written notice or instruction relating to any Account received by you from the Collateral Agent;
 - (ii) hold all sums standing to the credit of any Account to the order of the Collateral Agent;
 - (iii) pay or release any sum standing to the credit of any Account in accordance with the written instructions of the Collateral Agent; and
 - (iv) pay all sums received by you for the account of any Chargor to the credit of the Accounts of that Chargor with you.

For the avoidance of doubt, you may continue to deal with the Chargor in relation to the Accounts until you receive written notice to the contrary from the Collateral Agent. Following notice from the Collateral Agent that the Security under the Security Agreement has become enforceable, no Chargor is permitted to withdraw any amount from any Account without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent.

We acknowledge that you may comply with the instructions in this letter without any further permission from any Chargor and without any enquiry by you as to the justification for or validity of any request, notice or instruction.

The instructions in this letter may not be revoked or amended without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent.

This letter and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.

Please send to the Collateral Agent at [*address*] with a copy to ourselves the attached acknowledgement confirming your agreement to the above and giving the further undertakings set out in the acknowledgement.

Yours faithfully,

(Authorised signatory)

For [•] [(as agent for) each of the Chargors named below]

CHARGORS [the relevant Chargors]

PART 2

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ACCOUNT BANK

To: [Collateral Agent]

Copy: [Each Chargor]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Security agreement dated [●] between the Chargors (as defined therein) and [●] (the "Security Agreement")

We confirm receipt from [*the relevant Chargors*] (the "**Chargors**") of a notice dated $[\bullet]$ of a charge upon the terms of the Security Agreement over all the rights of each Chargor to any amount standing to the credit of any of its bank accounts with us at any of our branches (account no.: $[\bullet]$ sort code: $[\bullet]$) (the "Accounts").

We confirm that we:

- (a) accept the instructions contained in the notice and agree to comply with the notice;
- (b) have not received notice of the interest of any third party in any Account;
- (c) have neither claimed nor exercised, nor will claim or exercise, any security interest, set-off, counter-claim or other right in respect of any Account; and
- (d) following notice from the Collateral Agent that the Security under the Security Agreement has become enforceable:
 - (i) will not permit any amount to be withdrawn from any Account without your prior written consent; and
 - (ii) following notice from the Collateral Agent that the Security under the Security Agreement has become enforceable, will pay all sums received by us for the account of any Chargor to an Account of that Chargor with us.

Nothing contained in any of our arrangements with you shall commit us to providing any facilities or making advances available to any of the Chargors.

This letter and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.

Yours faithfully,

(Authorised signatory) [Account Bank]

FORMS OF LETTER FOR RECEIVABLES

PART 1

NOTICE TO COUNTERPARTY

To: [Counterparty]

Copy: [Collateral Agent]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Security agreement dated [•] between the Chargors (as defined therein) and [•] (the "Security Agreement")

This letter constitutes notice to you that under the Security Agreement, each of the companies listed at the end of this notice as chargors (together the "**Chargors**") has charged (by way of a first fixed charge) and assigned by way of security in favour of $[\bullet]$ as collateral agent for the Secured Parties referred to in the Security Agreement (the "**Collateral Agent**") as first priority chargee and assignee all of its rights in respect of [*insert details of receivable(s)/contract*] (the "**Receivables**").

On behalf of each of the Chargors,] we confirm that:

- (a) the relevant Chargor will remain liable under the Receivables to perform all the obligations assumed by it under the Receivables; and
- (b) none of the Collateral Agent, its agents, any receiver or any other person will at any time be under any obligation or liability to you under or in respect of the Receivables.

The relevant Chargor will also remain entitled to exercise all of its rights under the Receivables and you should continue to give notice under the Receivables to the relevant Chargor, unless and until you receive notice from the Collateral Agent to the contrary stating that the security has become enforceable. In this event, all of its rights will be exercisable by, and notices must be given to all monies to which the Chargor is entitled under the Receivables must be paid to the Collateral Agent or as it directs.

The instructions in this letter may not be revoked or amended without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent.

Please send to the Collateral Agent at [*address*] with a copy to ourselves the attached acknowledgement confirming your agreement to the above and giving the further undertakings set out in the acknowledgement.

We acknowledge that you may comply with the instructions in this letter without any further permission from us or any Chargor and without any enquiry by you as to the justification for or validity of any request, notice or instruction.

This letter and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.

Yours faithfully,

.....

(Authorised signatory)

For [•] [(as agent for) each of the Chargors named below]

CHARGORS [the relevant Chargors]

PART 2

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTERPARTY

To: [Collateral Agent]

Copy: [Each Chargor]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Security agreement dated [●] between the Chargors (as defined therein) and [●] (the "Security Agreement")

We confirm receipt from the chargors (the "**Chargors**") of a notice dated $[\bullet]$ of a charge and assignment on the terms of the Security Agreement of all of each Chargor's rights in respect of [*insert details of receivable(s)/contract*] (the "**Receivables**").

We confirm that we:

1. accept the instructions contained in the notice and agree to comply with the notice;

2. will give notices and make payments under the Receivables as directed in the notice; and

3. have not received notice of the interest of any third party in [any of] the Receivable[s].

This letter and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.

Yours faithfully,

(Authorised signatory)

[Counterparty]

FORMS OF LETTER FOR INSURANCE POLICIES

PART 1

NOTICE TO INSURER

(for attachment by way of endorsement to the insurance policies)

To: [Insurer]

Copy: [Collateral Agent]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Security agreement dated [•] between the Chargors (as defined therein) and [•] (the "Security Agreement")

This letter constitutes notice to you that under the Security Agreement, each of the companies listed at the end of this notice as chargors (together the "**Chargors**") has charged (by way of a first fixed charge) and assigned by way of security in favour of $[\bullet]$ as collateral agent for the Secured Parties referred to in the Security Agreement (the "**Collateral Agent**") as first priority chargee and assignee our right, title and interest in and to the proceeds of all amounts payable to it under or in connection with any contract of insurance taken out with you by or on behalf of it or under which it has a right to claim and all of its rights in connection with those amounts (insurance policy no.: $[\bullet]$) (the "**Insurance Policy**").

A reference in this letter to any amounts excludes all amounts received or receivable under or in connection with any third party liability insurance and required to settle a liability of a Chargor to a third party.

[On behalf of each of the Chargors,] we confirm that:

- (a) the relevant Chargor will remain liable under [each] such Insurance Policy to perform all the obligations assumed by it under [the] [that] Insurance Policy; and
- (b) none of the Collateral Agent, its agents, any receiver or any other person will at any time be under any obligation or liability to you under or in respect of [any] such Insurance Policy.

The relevant Chargor will also remain entitled to exercise all of its rights, powers and discretions under [each] such Insurance Policy and you should continue to give notices under [each] such Insurance Policy to the relevant Chargor, unless and until you receive notice from the Collateral Agent to the contrary stating that the security has become enforceable. In this event, unless the Collateral Agent otherwise agrees in writing all amounts payable to the relevant Chargor under [each] such Insurance Policy must be paid to the Collateral Agent and any rights of the relevant Chargor in connection with those amounts will be exercisable by, and notices must be given to, the Collateral Agent or as it directs.

We irrevocably instruct and authorise you to disclose to the Collateral Agent any information relating to the Insurance Policy requested from you by the Collateral Agent.

The relevant Chargor may nevertheless amend or terminate the Insurance Policies without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent until you receive written notice to the contrary from the Collateral Agent

The instructions in this letter may not be revoked or amended without the prior written consent of the Collateral Agent.

Please note on the relevant contracts the Collateral Agent's interest as loss payee and the Collateral Agent's interest as first priority chargee and assignee of those amounts and rights and send to the Collateral Agent at [*address*] with a copy to ourselves the attached acknowledgement confirming your agreement to the above and giving the further undertakings set out in the acknowledgement.

We acknowledge that you may comply with the instructions in this letter without any further permission from us or any Chargor and without any enquiry by you as to the justification for or validity of any request, notice or instruction.

This letter and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.

Yours faithfully,

(Authorised signatory)

For [•] [(as agent for) each of the Chargors named below]

CHARGORS [*the relevant Chargors*]

PART 2

FORM OF LETTER OF UNDERTAKING

To: [Collateral Agent]

Copy: [Each Chargor]

[Date]

Dear Sirs,

Security agreement dated [●] between the Chargors (as defined therein) and [●] (the "Security Agreement")

We confirm receipt from the Chargors of a notice dated $[\bullet]$ of an assignment by each Chargor upon the terms of the Security Agreement of all amounts payable to it under or in connection with any contract of insurance referred to in taken out with us by or on behalf of it or under which it has a right to claim and all of its rights in connection with those amounts (insurance policy no.: $[\bullet]$).

A reference in this letter to any amounts excludes all amounts received or receivable under or in connection with any third party liability insurance and required to settle a liability of an Obligor to a third party.

In consideration of your agreeing to the Chargors or any of them continuing their insurance arrangements with us we:

- 1. accept the instructions contained in the notice and agree to comply with the notice;
- 2. confirm that we have not received notice of the interest of any third party in those amounts and rights;
- 3. undertake to note on the relevant contracts your interest as loss payee and as first priority assignee of those amounts and rights;
- 4. undertake to disclose to you without any reference to or further authority from the Chargors any information relating to those contracts which you may at any time request;
- 5. undertake to notify you of any breach by any Chargor of any of those contracts and to allow you or any of the other Secured Parties (as defined in the Security Agreement) to remedy that breach; and
- 6. undertake not to amend or waive any term of or terminate any of those contracts on request by the Chargors without your prior written consent.

This letter and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.

Yours faithfully,

for [Insurer]

FORM OF SECURITY ACCESSION DEED

THIS DEED is dated [•]

BETWEEN:

- (1) $[\bullet]$ (registered number $[\bullet]$) with its registered office at $[\bullet]$ (the "Additional Chargor"); and
- (2) [•] as collateral agent for the Secured Parties under and as defined in the Security Agreement referred to below (the "Collateral Agent").

BACKGROUND:

- (A) The Additional Chargor is a Restricted Subsidiary (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of the U.S. Borrower.
- (B) Each Chargor has entered into a security agreement dated [●] (the "Security Agreement") between the other Chargors (under and as defined in the Security Agreement) and the Collateral Agent.
- (C) The Additional Chargor has agreed to enter into this Deed and to become a Chargor under the Security Agreement.
- (D) It is intended that this document takes effect as a deed notwithstanding the fact that a party may only execute this document under hand.

IT IS AGREED as follows:

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

Terms defined in the Security Agreement have the same meaning in this Deed unless given a different meaning in this Deed. This Deed is designated a Loan Document (as defined in the Credit Agreement).

1.2 Construction

Clauses 1.2 (*Construction*) to 1.5 (*Trust*) (inclusive) of the Security Agreement shall apply *mutatis mutandis* to this Deed as if the same were set out in full, but as if references in those clauses to the "**Deed**" and other similar expressions were references to this Deed.

2. ACCESSION

With effect from the date of this Deed the Additional Chargor:

- (a) will become a party to the Security Agreement as a Chargor; and
- (b) will be bound by all the terms of the Security Agreement which are expressed to be binding on a Chargor.

3. CREATION OF SECURITY

3.1 General

- (a) All the Security created under this Deed:
 - (i) is created in favour of the Collateral Agent;
 - (ii) is created over present and future assets of each Additional Chargor;
 - (iii) is security for the payment, discharge and performance of all the Secured Obligations; and
 - (iv) is made with full title guarantee in accordance with the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1994.
- (b) The Collateral Agent holds the benefit of this Deed on trust for the Secured Parties.
- (c) The fact that no or incomplete details of any Security Asset are inserted in the schedule (*Security Assets*) to this Deed does not affect the validity or enforceability of this Security.
- (d) This Clause 3 applies without prejudice to the generality of Clause 2 (*Accession*) of this Deed.

3.2 Specific Security

Subject to Clause 3.5 (*Excluded Assets*) of the Security Agreement, each Additional Chargor as continuing security for the payment of the Secured Obligations, charges in favour of the Collateral Agent (for itself and on behalf of the Secured Parties) with full title guarantee the following assets, both present and future from to time owned by it or in which it has an interest:

- (a) by way of first fixed charge:
 - (i) all its Shares and all corresponding Related Rights;
 - (ii) all of its rights in respect of any Account, any amount standing to the credit of any Account and the debt represented by it; and
 - (iii) (to the extent that they are not the subject of an assignment under paragraph (a) of Clause 3.3 (Security Assignment) below) all Receivables and Insurance Policies, and, in each case, all rights and claims against third parties or the relevant Restricted Subsidiary in respect thereof.
 - (iv) all amounts payable to it under or in connection with each of its Insurance Policies and all of its rights and claims in connection with those amounts (other than all amounts received or receivable under or in connection with any third party liability insurance and required to settle a liability of an Obligor to a third party);
 - (v) all Tangible Moveable Property owned by it and its interest in any Tangible Moveable Property in its possession; and

(vi) its goodwill and uncalled capital.

3.3 Security Assignments

- (a) Subject to Clause 3.5 (*Excluded Assets*) of the Security Agreement, each Additional Chargor assigns and agrees to assign absolutely, subject to a proviso for reassignment on redemption, with full title guarantee to the Collateral Agent (for itself and on behalf of the Secured Parties) as security for the payment and discharge of the Secured Obligations all of its right, title and interests from time to time and to the proceeds of the:
 - (iii) Receivables; and
 - (iv) Insurance Policies.
- (a) To the extent that any right described in paragraph (a) above is not assignable or capable of assignment, the assignment of that right purported to be effected by paragraph (a) shall operate as an assignment of any damages, compensation, remuneration, profit, rent or income which that Additional Chargor may derive from that right or be awarded or entitled to in respect of that right.

3.4 Floating charge

- (a) Each Additional Chargor charges by way of a first floating charge all of its present and future assets, undertakings and rights whatsoever and wheresoever not otherwise effectively mortgaged, charged or assigned under this Deed.
- (b) Except as provided below, the Collateral Agent may by notice to an Additional Chargor convert the floating charge created by that Additional Chargor under this Deed into a fixed charge as regards any of that Additional Chargor's assets specified in that notice, if:
 - (i) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
 - the Collateral Agent reasonably considers those assets to be in danger of being seized or sold under any form of distress, attachment, execution or other legal process or to be otherwise in jeopardy;
 - (iii) it is necessary to so in order to protect the priority, validity or enforceability of the Security created under this Deed; or
 - (iv) that Additional Chargor creates or attempts to create any Security (other that any Security permitted under the terms of the [Credit Agreement]) over any of the Security Assets.
- (c) The floating charge created under this Deed may not be converted into a fixed charge solely by reason of:
 - (i) the obtaining of a moratorium; or
 - (ii) anything done with a view to obtaining a moratorium,

under section 1A to the Insolvency Act 1986.

- (d) The floating charge created under this Deed will (in addition to the circumstances in which the same will occur under general law) automatically convert into a fixed charge over all of each Additional Chargor's assets:
 - (i) if an administrator is appointed or the Collateral Agent receives notice of an intention to appoint an administrator; or
 - (ii) on the convening of any meeting of the members of that Additional Chargor to consider a resolution to wind that Additional Chargor up (or not to wind that Additional Chargor up);
 - (iii) if in respect of that Additional Chargor, a resolution is passed or any order is made in England and Wales for the winding-up, dissolution, administration or reorganisation of that Additional Chargor or an administrator is appointed to that;
 - (iv) any person levies or attempts to levy any distress, execution or other legal process against any of the assets of that Additional Chargor subject to the floating charge (provided that only the assets the subject of such process shall become subject to a fixed charge): or
 - (v) if that Additional Chargor is, or is deemed to be or is declared for the purposes of any applicable law to be, unable or admits inability to pay its debts as they fall due, suspends making payments on any of its debts or, by reason of actual or anticipated financial difficulties, commences negotiations with its creditors generally or any class of them (other than the Secured Parties) for the rescheduling of any of its financial indebtedness.
- (e) The floating charge created under this Deed is a **qualifying floating charge** for the purpose of paragraph 14 of Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986.
- (f) The giving by the Collateral Agent of a notice under paragraph (b) above in relation to any asset of an Additional Chargor will not be construed as a waiver or abandonment of the Collateral Agent's rights to give any other notice in respect of any other asset or of any other right of any other Secured Parties under this Deed or any other Secured Debt Document.

4. MISCELLANEOUS

With effect from the date of this Deed:

- (a) the Security Agreement will be read and construed for all purposes as if the Additional Chargor had been an original party in the capacity of Chargor (but so that the Security created on this accession will be created on the date of this Deed); and
- (b) any reference in the Security Agreement to this Deed and similar phrases will include this Deed and all references in the Security Agreement to Schedule 2 (*Security Assets*) (or any part of it) will include a reference to the schedule to this Deed (or relevant part of it).

5. GOVERNING LAW

This Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it are governed by English law.

THIS DEED has been executed and delivered as a deed by the Additional Chargor on the date stated at the beginning of this Deed

SECURITY ASSETS

PART 1

SHARES

	Chargor	Name of company in which shares are held	Class of shares held	Number of shares held
[•)]	[•]	[●]	[•]

PART 1

ACCOUNTS

Chargor	Account Bank name and address	IBAN	Swift Code
[•]	[●]	[•]	[•]

PART 2

INSURANCE POLICIES

Chargor	Description
[•]	[•]

SIGNATORIES (TO SECURITY ACCESSION DEED)

The Additional Chargor

EXECUTED as a DEED by [●] acting by)))	Director
in the presence of:)	Difector
Witness's signature:		
Name:		
Address:		

The Collateral Agent

[•]

By:

[Project Ingevity – Signature Page to Debenture Accession Deed]

REPRESENTATIONS AND UNDERTAKING ANNEXES

INSURANCE POLICIES

1.1 Notices

Each Chargor shall in respect of an Insurance Policy:

- (a) As soon as practicable and, in any event, within five Business Days after the date of this Deed (or, in respect of any Insurance Policy which becomes the subject of this Security after the date of this Deed, within five Business Days of such date) serve notice, substantially in the form of Part 1 of Schedule 5 (*Notice to Insurer*) to this Deed, to each of the counterparty to each of the Insurance Policies that it has assigned or charged its right under the relevant Insurance Policy pursuant to this Deed; and
- (b) use its reasonable endeavours to procure that each such counterparty delivers a letter of undertaking to the Collateral Agent in the form of Part 2 of Schedule 5 (*Form of letter undertaking*) within 20 Business Days (or such later date as may be agreed to by the Collateral Agent) of service in respect of any notice delivered pursuant to paragraph (a) above *provided that* the relevant Chargor's obligation under this paragraph will cease on the expiry of the 20 Business Day period referred to in this paragraph (or such longer period as may be agreed to by the Collateral Agent).

1.2 Rights

At any time on or after an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing:

- (a) the Collateral Agent may exercise (without any further consent or authority on the part of any Chargor and irrespective of any direction given by any Chargor) any of the rights of any Chargor in connection with any amounts payable to it under any of its Insurance Policies;
- (b) each Chargor must take such steps (at its own cost) as the Collateral Agent may require to enforce those rights; this includes initiating and pursuing legal or arbitration proceedings in the name of that Chargor;
- (c) each Chargor must hold any payment received by it under any of its Insurance Policies on trust for the Collateral Agent; and
- (d) each Chargor shall, if required by the Collateral Agent, use reasonable endeavours to cause each Insurance Policy held in the name of that Chargor and relating to material assets forming part of the Security Assets (other than any Insurance Policy which has been the subject of a notice to insurer pursuant to 1.1 Notices (*Notices*) above to contain (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent) an endorsement naming the Collateral Agent as sole loss payee in respect of all claims arising under such policy or policies until such time as the Collateral Agent notifies the insurer(s) to the contrary;each Chargor shall, if required by the Collateral Agent (but subject to the

provisions of any lease of the Security Assets and any other applicable restrictions), deposit all Insurance Policies held in the name of that Chargor and relating to material assets forming part of the Security Assets with the Collateral Agent.

SIGNATURE PAGES

)

The Chargors

SIGNED as a deed by

JOHN E. NYPAVER, JE. as attorney for INGEVITY UK LTD in the presence of:

)	art bill a griterada. A constant	andras alaren alaren. Kaj			
)					
5	en de la composition				
1					
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	er an an the same that the same the sam			
	Attorney	and share a state	t jaar se te saar		
		-	t a section a		
		e en periore	e e terret est e		
1.1.1.1.1					
1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
_	Witness				
	Witness				na ha shekarar An an an an
	. <u>^</u>	فاستنبعوا المأر			e i percet
	11 20	- /			
	Kya C Fi	Shon	i jerenana andi		
	· · · · ·				
	Witness nan	10			
	, withess fian	10			
		in the second			
	na secondaria de la compañía de la c	and a transition	e Tresser	والمتحج والمتحج	
	Witness add	ress		e de la contracta de la	terter ber
				terrer and the	a, ang bita
		and the second	a de la colta de la	" see statut	والمعر وللتنافية
					and a state
a sector					
ant and					
					a ser para t
			at de transfer		
			المحمد أنها م. محمد أنها محمد م		

[Project Ingevity – Signature Page to Debenture]

The Collateral Agent

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

By: Name: Antje Focke Title: Executive Director

[Project Ingevity – Signature Page to Debenture]